of the American Institute of Architects
in New York in 1857, debates raged over
architectural style, and new iron-framed
skyscrapers captured people’s attention.
Reinforced concrete gave architects and
engineers the ability to design factory
buildings with unimpeded spans free of
supports — designs that would later play a
role in the development of assembly line

production in Detroit.

Leaving Kahn after a brief stay, Harley
moved to George Mason’s firm in 1905.
That year, Mason designed a reinforced
concrete building for the Cadillac Motor
Car Company, while Kahn's firm designed
the Packard Motor Company factory
using reinforced concrete for the entire
frame. When Harley joined Mason's firm,
the elder architect feared Harley was too
ensconced in the factory designs of Kahn.
This concern led Mason to send the young
architect to special art and architecture

classes in order to introduce him to differ-

ent architectural and design styles.

Mason had founded his firm in the late
1870’s with Zachariah Rice and by the 20th
Century had played a significant role in
the development of architecture across
Michigan. His residential designs for
wealthy clientele dotted Detroit’s streets,

no doubt having a significant influence

on Harley. Mason also designed many of
Detroit’s churches, as its population grew
northward along Woodward Avenue. Two
of Mason’s best-known buildings are the
1887 Grand Hotel on Mackinac Island, and
the 1926 MasonicTemple in Detroit.

Mason’s largest commission during
Harley's tenure, however, was the origi-
nal 1907 Pontchartrain Hotel, a 10-story
hotel in Detroit comprised of an Italianate
three-story base and a simple shaft design
above. The hotel’s brief history was indic-
ative of two trends affecting architecture
at the time - the demand for ever larger
buildings and the struggle over style. The
hotel’s popularity as the social center of
Detroit's business community led the
owners to add five stories in 1916. Even at
the time of the addition, however, the hotel
was becoming outdated. By 1920, the land
had been sold and the hotel razed. Today,
the site — adjacent to Detroit's Campus
Martius — is occupied by the First National

Bank Building.

Alvin Harley's experiences with Kahn
and Mason prepared him for the world
of architecture and design embodied
in the Pontchartrain’'s odyssey. Within
a span of 13 years, the hotel was built
with great fanfare, became the center of

Detroit's business community, required
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an extensive addition and modernization,
and was then torn down because it was

not modern enough.

It was with this rich background, that Harley
launched hisown professional practice with
another Mason co-worker, Norman Swain
Atcheson, in 1908. Atcheson was born in
St. Louis, Missouri in 1876, Harley’s elder
by eight years. Prior to settling in Detroit,
however, and also taking a position with
Mason’s firm, Atcheson had apprenticed

with several architects in New York City.

As young architects, either they were blind
to the economic downturn that Detroit
and the United States were experiencing
at the time, or farsighted enough to see
the growth on the horizon. Despite a 25
percent decline in the number of build-
ing permits in Detroit from 1907 to 1908,
a Masonic Lodge newsletter from the
time reported that Harley and Atcheson
were “doing business in spite of the dull-
ness of the building line” Perhaps the
two men noted that in the midst of the
economic downturn, the production
of passenger cars increased nearly 50
percent. Undoubtedly, they noticed Henry
Ford introducing his Model T and William
Durant purchasing the Buick, Oldsmobile,
Cadillac, and Oakland car companies to

create General Motors in 1908.

The wealth created by the boom in auto-
mobile manufacturing also created a
strong demand for architectural services.
In the five years that Harley and Atcheson
were partners, the number of buildings
constructed in Detroit more than doubled.
Harley and Atcheson completed a number
of projects highlighting the economic and
They

helped build the city where, “life was

cultural development of Detroit.

worth living,” as a local paper noted, with
their 1912 designs of the Globe Theater, a
650-seat vaudeville theater on Grand River
Avenue at Trumbull, and the Henry Clay
Hotel on Centre Street near Grand Circus
Park. The Globe Theater, later expanded
by C. Howard Crane, was ultimately closed
and demolished in the 1970s. The Henry
Clay Hotel is still in operation today as a
part of the Milner Hotel chain, located near

Detroit’'s Comerica Park and Ford Field.

By late 1912, despite their achievements,
Alvin Harley and Norman Atcheson
dissolved their partnership. Harley struck
out on hisown as Alvin E. Harley, Architect,
continuing his early success in parallel to
the continued wealth created by Detroit’s

automobile industry.

While little is known about Atcheson's later
career, he did maintain an individual prac-

tice for a number of years in Detroit. He
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died in 1938 in Woodside, California, south

of San Francisco, at the age of 61.

In December 1913, as a newly natural-
ized U.S. citizen, Harley pursued his solo
practice vigorously. Although his firm
was not large enough to win the indus-
trial commissions created by the explod-
ing auto industry, Alvin caught a big break
in 1914 when he beat out former mentor
Albert Kahn to design a suburban resi-
dence in Bloomfield Hills, Michigan for
Hugh Chalmers. The founder and presi-
dent of Chalmers Motor Company, Hugh
Chalmers sought an English cottage style
structure popular among Detroit’s elite.
Harley designed a noteworthy 40-room
residence for Chalmers and from there his

practice in residential design took off.

In the late 1910s and early 1920s, Harley
designed eight residences in northern
Detroit’s prestigious Palmer Woods, a new
neighborhood recently converted from
farmland. Marketed as an oasis from the
grime of the city, PalmerWoods, along with
the adjacent Sherwood Forest, became

one of Detroit’s elite neighborhoods.

Harley’s residential designs in the afflu-
ent suburban neighborhood were some-
thing of an exercise in contrast at the

time, with much of the world’s attention

focused on World War | and the subse-
quent Spanish Flu pandemic. The most
destructive events in recorded history, the
flu pandemic started as “The Great War”
was ending, and caused 20 million deaths

- twice as many as the war itself.

Following the death and destruction from
war and plague, the Roaring 20’s were a
welcome relief, emphasizing the period’s
social, artistic and cultural dynamism.
The era was distinguished by inventions
and discoveries of farreaching import,
unprecedented industrial growth, accel-
erated consumer demand, and significant
changes in lifestyle. Normality returned to
politics, jazz music blossomed, the flapper
redefined modern womanhood and Art

Deco design peaked.

These years brought a renewed focus on
historical styles in residential, business
and governmental architecture, as well as
a determined search for a clearly modern
architecture. After the discovery of the
tomb of Egyptian pharaoh, Tutankhamen,
in 1922, another building style became
especially popular, exploiting historical
references to ancient Egypt. For govern-
mental buildings, architects and govern-
ment officials felt that classical architecture
was particularly appropriate, another influ-

ence on Harley's early years of practice.
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As the automobile industry in the Motor
City continued to expand in the 1920s,
Harley designed more residences in
Grosse Pointe Park and Bloomfield Hills,
both newly fashionable residential desti-
nations for Detroit’s wealthy. His design
for the home of Owen R. Skelton, one of
the founding engineers of the Chrysler
Corporation, won him additional acco-
lades. Beyond his residential work, Harley
designed a number of commercial and
industrial buildings, including projects
for Hanan and Sons Shoes as well as the

prestigious Demery Department Store.

In addition to his private practice, from 1915
to 1922 Alvin Harley formed a partnership
with fellow architect Richard Marr. The
record does not reveal the motivations of
the two men; whether they were seeking
a long-tem partnership leading to the
establishment of a large firm or whether
they were coming together for specific
projects. The latter seems more likely
because they continued to design solo
projects while partnering on some projects.
They did form a corporation to undertake
the design of the largest project they
completed: the Jefferson Hall Apartment
Hotel.,a57-unitbuilding on East Jeffersonin
Detroit. Overall, the partners completed six
projects, including residential, commercial,

and mixed-use projects.

This era in the firm’s history was further
highlighted by a new tradition when, in
1918, the 34-year-old Harley relocated
his offices for a third time - this time -
finally to a building of his own design. He
moved into the new six-story mixed-use
McKerchey Building on Woodward Avenue
at Sibley in Detroit. Although now demol-
ished, Harley maintained his offices there
until he and Harold Ellington joined forces
in 1933.

During this period, Harley’s professional
reputation was growing as quickly as his
business, and in 1921 he served as presi-
dent of the Michigan Society of Architects
(now AIA Michigan).

Sadly, toward the end of this decade of
vigorous growth, the Wall Street Crash
of 1929 took a major toll, punctuating the
end of this era - as the Great Depression

setin.
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Surviving the Great Depression

Harley and Ellington (1933-1942)

While Alvin Harley was apprenticing with
Kahn and Mason and later practicing with
Norman Atcheson, another young man,
Harold Slaight Ellington, was studying
engineering and beginning his career in
Chicago. Ellington, who would eventually
become Harley’s lifelong business partner,
was born in Chicago in 1886, his parents
having immigrated to the United States
from London, England. He was every bit
as immersed in the changing technology
of building and civil engineering as Harley

was in the wonders of architecture.

Ellington gained his initial industry experi-
ence working for the Chicago Engineering
Department during the summer months
while he was in school. In 1908, he grad-
uated from the Armour Institute (now
the lllinois Institute of Technology) with a
Bachelor’s Degree in Civil Engineering. In
a short time Ellington was working for the
Standard Concrete Construction Company
as a chief engineer, designing reinforced
concrete structures for buildings, bridges
and breweries. In 1912, his experience
with brewery stock houses brought him to

Detroit. Once there, he accepted an offer

from Julius Stroh to become the plant
and construction engineer for the Stroh

Brewery Company.

As Detroit’s population boomed, Ellington
oversaw the major expansion of the Stroh
Brewery —an expansion driven by demand
for their new European-style fire-brewed
Stroh’s Beer. Ellington was involved with
the construction of the new brew house,
stock cellars, bottling plant, powerhouse,
garages and installation of all the associ-
ated production equipment. Ellington was
known for his innovative design solutions,
which came in handy when the brewery
needed to increase production from the
30,000 barrels per year it produced in
1880, to 500,000 barrels annually, all on
the same site. The solution was a multi-
story brewery relying on gravity flow to
move the beer from one stage of the brew-

ing process to the next.

Ellington’s brewery construction experi-
ence came to an unfortunate halt when
a voter-approved prohibition on the sale
of beer, liquor and wine took effect in

Michigan on May 1, 1917. His innovations
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For the Maccabees Mutual Insurance
Company, the firm completed a new
headquarters office building in Southfield,
Michigan. It won the Institute of
Administrative Management “Office of
the Year Award” for its innovative design
allowing all the functions of the company
to flow easily and more efficiently.
Promotional materials and articles describ-
ing the Union Central and Maccabees
buildings touted the continuous work-
spaces that facilitated, “easy movement
between departments and the dispatch of
mail and files by automatic conveyors to
all parts of the building.” These wide-open
workspaces could not have been accom-
modated in the smaller and older down-

town buildings.

Other areas of Harley, Ellington, Cowin
and Stirton’s success came from initial
growth and expansion in the industrial,
automotive, healthcare, and science and
research fields. The 1960s were a time in
which rapidly advancing technology began
permeating more areas of society, includ-
ing manufacturing and healthcare. These
technological developments created new
demands in architectural and engineer-
ing design — needs that the firm was quali-
fied to fulfill. Although not a major part of
the firm’s portfolio during the 1960s, these

assignments demonstrated an ability to

embrace new manufacturing technologies

and signaled even bigger things to come.

With the Soviet Union’s launch of Sputnik
in 1957, and President John F Kennedy’s
challengeto, “land aman onthe moon...by
the end of the century,” the space race was
on. Harley, Ellington, Cowin and Stirton
played a key role in designing facilities for
companies undertaking research as part
of America’s space program. The Bendix
Aviation Corporation selected Harley,
Ellington, Cowin and Stirton for a number
of facilities such as the High Altitude
Research Lab at its plant in Ann Arbor,
Michigan. Another Michigan company,
the Dow Chemical Company in Midland,
called on the firm for its new Chemical
and Physical Research Laboratories.

Another area undergoing remarkable
transformation during the 1960s was the
healthcare industry, so Harley, Ellington,
Cowin and Stirton undertook its first
healthcare marketing campaign. The
campaign highlighted the difficulties faced
by health care providers at a time in which
rapid advances in medical research led
to constantly changing procedures and
equipment needs. Increasing technology
needs came at a time when governments
were having difficulty raising funds, and

construction costs were escalating rapidly.
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Guidelines at the time noted that modern
hospitals needed unified facilities provid-
ing for the diversity of functions and flex-
ibility for future change while maintaining
an economical cost. This marketing effort
paid off when the firm landed the design
for South Macomb Hospital’s new facili-
ties in 1963.

Continuing the firm’s tradition of innova-
tion, Harley, Ellington, Cowin and Stirton’s
work on South Macomb Hospital was ulti-
mately recognized as significant, when
in 1966, Baylor University’'s Hospital
Administration program requested copies
of the models, materials and concepts to
use in its educational course on contem-
porary Medical Facilities Planning. Four
decades later, the firm was selected to
design a new science facility on the Baylor

University campus.

Despite enjoying relative success in vari-
ous practice areas, the 60s decade turned
out to be the firm's most challenging.
The failure of many projects to move to
construction was the result of significant
economic and social turmoil, with many
of these challenges arising from the strug-

gle to revitalize Detroit's downtown.

One of the biggest drains on the firm'’s

resourcescameasaresultofitsinvolvement

with an attempted revitalization of the
“Kern Block,” home of Kern’s Department
Store until it closed its doors in 1959. In
1962, the City of Detroit purchased the
property and razed the building. In 1967,
the city held a competition to select rede-
velopment proposals for the Kern Block,
considered to be one of the most valuable
pieces of property in the United States.
Harley, Ellington, Cowin and Stirton’s
plans for a high-rise office building won
the competition. Unfortunately, the proj-
ect never proceeded, and the develop-
ment partner never compensated the firm

for its significant work effort.

The Kern Block project was just one of
several inthe 1960s that never reached frui-
tion. In 1960, Harley, Ellington, Cowin and
Stirton designed a 38-acre pedestrian mall
for the Detroit City Planning Commission.
The mall would connect the riverfront
Civic Center with the shopping district
on Washington Boulevard. Although the
design won an urban design award from
Progressive Architecture magazine, this

project was also never realized.

In 1967, the firm developed preliminary
plans to add a 50-story office tower addi-
tion to the City-County Building. Prospects
for the project were short-lived, however,

as it was announced just two weeks before
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the infamous Detroit civil riots broke out,
and all development came to a halt in the

city.

In response to the economic and societal
challenges taking place during the 1960s,
management at Harley, Ellington, Cowin
and Stirton instituted a number of changes.
The firm established a sales staff, charged
specifically with new obtaining new
work. The Board of Directors established
an operations committee charged with,
“maintaining an efficient and economic
operation of the firm,” and the firm closed
its Washington, D.C. office. In 1962, the
firm also investigated the possibility of
investing in the development of a depart-
ment store in Livonia, Michigan, and the
following year, in a Hilton Hotel. Neither

venture panned out.

At mid-decade, the firm’s fortunes briefly
improved. In 1967, Julian Cowin moved
up to become Chairman of the Board, and
Malcolm Roderick Stirton was appointed
the firm’s fourth president. Stirton was
born in Port Huron, Michigan in 1909, and
his family relocated to Detroit in 1914. He
attended the Detroit’s Cass Technical High
School Public Schools, and received his
degree in architecture from the University
of Michigan in 1932. Stirton was at the top

of his class at the U of M, serving as class

president, and receiving both the National
AlA's “School Scholastic Medal,” and the
“George G. Booth Traveling Fellowship,”
which he used to study in Europe. Stirton
later noted about his Fellowship, “It was
a God-send at that time, because in 1932
there was practically no work in any office
in Detroit. Actually, one large office had
a ping pong table set up in the drafting

room to kill time.”

The upturn was short-lived. By the end
of 1967, following Detroit’s civil unrest,
business conditions were at a low point.
While there was a modest improvement in
1968, the firm still struggled with the busi-
ness climate and inefficient operations.
Stirton’s efforts to improve the firm during
the trying times of the 1960s did lead,
however, to a number of transformational
changes that eventually became perma-

nent improvements.

A 1966 public relations study led to the
development of today’s marketing strate-
gies. The study noted that, despite being
held in high regard by current clients,
Harley, Ellington, Cowin and Stirton did
not enjoy a strong reputation with the
general public, perspective clients, and
some architectural editors. Perhaps most
troubling was the finding that the firm'’s

current employees did not name it as one
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of the top firms in Detroit. According to the
study, this “inferiority complex” arose from
the firm’s rapid growth in the 1950s, and a
communications breakdown. Neither staff
nor outsiders were fully aware of all the
firm’s activities and successes. The study
also noted that Harley, Ellington, Cowin
and Stirton’s leadership had a reputation
of “ultra-conservatism” resulting in some

difficulty attracting “bright young men.”

A new marketing focus was developed in
response to the study, targeting specific
areas of the firm’s practice. New brochures
relied heavily on images instead of writ-
And, while

the office in the Red Cross Building was

ten descriptions of work.

heralded when it was first occupied in
1948, the study found, “the reception
room as neutral in appearance, empha-
sized by poor lighting...easily regarded as
the waiting room of physicians, lawyers or
accountants.” The firm quickly remodeled
its lobby and reception area incorporating

photography and models of its work.

Despite these improvements, the struggles
continued through the end of the decade.
Most challenging to the firm, however,
was the lack of adequate succession plan-
ning, and more members of the historic
management team were retiring. In 1969,

both Julian Cowin and Fred Harley retired.

Julian Cowin died in 1978 in Sarasota,
Florida. Left were Malcolm Stirton, and
Fred Hildebrandt, another of the firm’s
long-time leaders, as the remaining senior
executives and both were fast approach-

ing retirement age.

By the next year, the firm's designers were
struggling in their efforts to move the firm
in new creative directions. With tensions
continuing to build between the design
and management groups, in a low histori-
cal note, the entire 8-person design team,
known as the “Miller 8,” resigned from the
firm in the fall of 1969.

In an almost amusing anecdote to the
firm’s history, the firm once again changed
its name in 1969 to Harley Ellington
Associates. President Malcolm Stirton
reported the change was to, “avoid the
necessity of a name change in the future.”
The time had also arrived for the firm to
relocate out of the city’s embattled down-
town area. A new suburban location was
found in Southfield, Michigan, just north
of the city that had been the firm’s home

for sixty years.

The 1960s were a time of immense change
in all areas of public and private life, and
similarly for Harley, Ellington, Cowin

and Stirton. The decade is often referred
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